A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred and denied 

appellant the constitutional rights of due process, 

to a jury trial, and to present a defense by 

erroneously instructing the jury on self-defense. 

U. S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, sees. 

3, 21, 22. 

2. Appellant assigns error to the court's 

failure to instruct the jury in a self-defense case 

that assault requires the use of "unlawful force . " 

3. The court's jury instructions relieved 

the State of its burden to prove the assault was 

committed by means of a deadly weapon . 

4. Appellant assigns error to Instruction 

No. 11, CP 21, quoted in full below. 

S . Appellant assigns error to Instruction 

No. 13, CP 23, quoted in full below. 

6. Appellant was denied effective assistance 

of counsel when his attorney proposed inaccurate 

instructions on his theory of self-defense and 

lesser included offenses. 

7. Appellant was denied effective assistance 

of counsel when his attorney proposed instructions 

that permitted the jury to conflate two 
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misdemeanors into a single felony conviction, 

contrary to the law. 

8. The court inaccurately instructed the 

jury that the charge was "assault in the second 

degree while armed with a firearm" and did not read 

all elements of the charge during voir dire. 

9. The trial court erred by denying 

appellant's motion for a new trial. 

Issues Relevant to the Assignments of Error 

1. In a case of self-defense, where neither 

the "to-convict" instruction nor the definition of 

assault includes "with unlawful force," do the 

instructions relieve the State of the burden of 

proving an element of the charge? 

2. Does a person commit the crime of second 

degree assault "with" a deadly weapon if he commits 

both unlawful display of a weapon and fourth-degree 

assault by an impermissible offensive touching with 

his hand? 

3. Does "with" in RCW 9A. 36.021 (1) (c) require 

that the assault be committed by means of the 

deadly weapon? 

4. Given the peculiar facts of this case, 

did the jury instructions defining assault 
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adequately distinguish between the misdemeanor and 

felony assault elements? 

5. Did the jury instructions permit the jury 

to convict of a felony without proof of unlawful 

force and/or without proof of an assault by means 

of a deadly weapon? 

6. Did the court inaccurately instruct the 

jury on the charge at the beginning of trial, 

omitting elements and failing to read the charge 

itself? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

a. Defense Evidence 

Joshua Thomas is a long-haired 64 -year-old 

musician living off Camp 2 Road, a gravel road in 

the woods of Whatcom County. From age 17 he made 

his living playing in bars, saloons and nightclubs. 

Now he moves more slowly, with good and bad days 

healthwise. He knows most of his neighbors, he is 

courteous with them, but he does not socialize with 

them much. A widower, he lives alone with a feral 

cat he took in. He acknowledges some of his 
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neighbors may think he's a bit of a "kook." RP 

319-22, 347-48. 1 

Camp 2 Road is a county road. Before reaching 

Mr. Thomas's driveway, it becomes a hardpack road 

wi th loose gravel not maintained by the county. 

The three property owners along that portion are 

responsible for maintaining the road. Mr . Thomas 

shovels gravel to fill potholes; Jim Mullen uses 

his tractor. The neighbors have spent a lot of 

money on gravel and grading. RP 293-301, 304, 324-

26. 

A recurring problem has been motorcyclists who 

ride too fast and spin doughnuts or turn too 

quickly, causing ruts in the gravel and the 

roadbed. RP 292-94, 304, 324 . 

The neighborhood mailboxes are located where 

the county maintenance ends. In June-July, 2011, a 

neighbor saw a cougar near the mailboxes. His wife 

sent an email to the neighbors to alert them. RP 

164-65, 328-30. Mr. Thomas owned a very small, 

five-shot .22 caliber revolver that fit into his 

1 The Report of Proceedings is paginated 
sequentially through the trial with the exception 
of jury selection "RP(VD)" and post-trial hearings, 
which are indicated by "RP(5/15)" and "RP(8/7)." 
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jeans coin pocket. Years earlier, he had fired the 

gun into the ground to scare off a dog that bit 

him. Although he never expected to shoot a cougar 

with it, he thought the loud sound might scare it 

off if he met one at the mailboxes. RP 330-33. 

On July 19, 2011, Jache Cocchi rode his 

motorcycle up and down Camp 2 Road. He was dressed 

in full matching leather gear. His helmet visor 

concealed his face. RP 335-36, 345-47. 

Carolyn Mullen heard the motorcycle on their 

portion of the road for at least two hours. She 

went up her driveway three times to try to stop him 

from going so fast, but she wasn't able to catch 

him. RP 307-09. Mr. Thomas could tell from the 

sound the motorbike was going fast and tearing up 

the road. As he headed out to the mailboxes, he 

decided to ask the rider not to tear up the road 

because he and the neighbors have to maintain it. 

He had talked to cyclists about it before with no 

problems. RP 333-34. 

Mr. Thomas was having a slower-moving day. He 

saw the motorcycle stopped next to Kaitlyn Jones, a 

neighbor girl he hadn't seen for some years. Mr. 

Thomas turned toward them, raised his hand, and 
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called two or three times to them to wait. As he 

got 15-20 feet from the motorcycle, the rider gave 

Mr. Thomas "the finger," gunned his engine and spun 

out, spraying Mr. Thomas with gravel as he rode 

away. RP 335-36. 

Mr. Thomas spoke with Kaitlyn for about 3-5 

minutes when the motorcycle returned at a high 

speed. Mr. Thomas motioned with his left hand to 

slow down. The motorcycle stopped very quickly 30-

40 feet away. The rider hunkered down, revved his 

engine, and looked like he was about to charge 

directly at Mr. Thomas. Mr. Thomas was afraid for 

his life. He pulled his gun from his pocket and 

held it in the air, hoping the rider would see it. 

RP 338-42. 

Mr. Thomas quickly approached the motorcycle, 

closing the gap so there was no room to charge at 

him and knock him down. He put his left hand on 

the rider's shoulder. He had the gun in his right 

hand, pointed straight up, but kept it as far from 

the motorcycle as possible. RP 342-44. 

Mr. Thomas gave the rider a "skunk eye," meant 

to convey not to mess with him. He spoke to the 

rider, explaining how the doughnuts damage the road 
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the neighbors have to maintain. He thought the 

rider gave an affirmative response. RP 345-49. 

Mr. Thomas never pointed the gun at the rider. 

He never cocked the gun. He never intended to 

shoot the gun. He never intended to make the rider 

think he was going to shoot him. RP 360, 373-76. 

The motorcycle took off at high speed again. 

Mr. Thomas felt threatened for a second, but 

decided he had done what he could. He went on to 

the mailboxes, then back home. RP 351-53. 

Sheriff's deputies contacted Mr. Thomas later 

that day. Mr. Thomas talked to them about problems 

with motorcycles riding dangerously and tearing up 

the road. This far out in the country, it was rare 

to get a police response to the problem. RP 324-

25, 332-34, 355-57, 379-80. 

Mr. Thomas believed the motorcycle rider was 

in his mid- to late-20s. The deputies told him he 

was a 14-year-old boy from the neighborhood. Mr. 

Thomas did not want to accuse a teenager he didn't 

know of a crime when no one had been hurt. He 

talked at length about the encounter -- he is prone 

to talk at length, especially when he gets excited. 

He told them the teenager sprayed him with gravel, 
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but he did not emphasize how he felt threatened. 

RP 357-62, 188-200. 

To his surprise and shock, the police then 

arrested him for felony assault. They did not ask 

him for a written statement. If they had, he would 

have given one. RP 358-60. 

Mr. Thomas wanted to stop the rider from 

charging at him. He held the weapon up because the 

rider didn't stop when he used his voice and hand. 

He believed showing the weapon was effective. He 

did not attempt to scare him. He was trying to 

protect himself. RP 380-82. 

b. State's Evidence 

Fourteen-year-old Jache Cocchi rode home fast, 

telling his father someone had tried to shoot him, 

had tried to kill him. His father didn't believe 

him until Jache went into his bedroom crying. His 

father called 911. RP 84-88. 

Jache was talking to Kaitlyn Jones when Mr. 

Thomas approached them. Kaitlyn heard Mr. Thomas 

call "wait, stop." She told Jache to stay with 

her, but he said "No way," kind of laughing. When 

Mr. Thomas was about ten feet away, Jache took off. 

RP 96-101. 
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Jache testified he thought Mr. Thomas looked 

scary, so he took of f, kicking up gravel. He 

couldn't hear any comments from Mr. Thomas through 

his helmet. He rode up logging roads for what he 

thought felt like "hours" -- although Kaitlyn and 

Mr. Thomas agreed it was only 2-5 minutes. RP 36-

39, 102-03. Jache rode back to where he'd left 

Kaitlyn and Mr. Thomas rather than taking 

alternative roads home. Coming up to them on a 

turn, he testified he thought Mr. Thomas was 

holding Kaitlyn hostage in the bushes. 2 He stopped 

and saw Mr. Thomas walk toward him, one hand 

holding a gun, one hand up indicating he should 

stop. 

68. 

Jache thought he was going to die. RP 66-

Jache said Mr. Thomas pointed the cocked gun 

directly into his face through the helmet and said, 

"Don't move or I'll shoot you, you little bastard." 

RP 43-44. He claimed Mr. Thomas pulled him off the 

motorcycle, RP 41; Mr. Thomas testified he was not 

physically capable of doing that, RP 350; Kaitlyn 

2 Kaitlyn said no such thing happened. RP 
117-19. 
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testified Jache remained on the bike the entire 

time, RP 107-09. 

Kaitlyn testified she was still talking with 

Mr. Thomas on the road when Jache stopped about 20 

yards away at the top of a hill. Mr. Thomas walked 

quickly towards Jache . About halfway there, she 

saw him pullout his gun. RP 103-04. She told the 

first officer she talked to that she didn't see the 

gun pointed at Jache. RP 156-60. She testified at 

trial Mr . Thomas pointed the gun at Jache, although 

she'd told defense counsel Jache would not have 

been able to see the gun because it was at the side 

of his helmet. RP 120-21. 

2. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

a. Charge 

The State charged Mr. Thomas with assault 

"with a deadly weapon" in the second degree, RCW 

9A. 36.021 (1) (c) , and alleged the sentencing 

enhancement for being armed with a firearm, RCW 

9.94A.533. CP 4-7. 3 

Count II, added in 
Information, was later dismissed. 

- 10 -
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b. Jury Instructions 

At the beginning of jury selection, the judge 

instructed the jury panel: 

The Defendant Joshua Thomas is 
charged with a crime of assault in the 
second degree while armed with a firearm. 

RP(VD) 13. He did not elaborate on the charge. He 

explained that the plea of not guilty 

means that you, the jury, must decide 
whether the state has proven every 
element of the offense beyond a 
reasonable doubt. The state has the 
burden of proving every element beyond a 
reasonable doubt ... 

RP(VD) 14 (emphases added) 

At the close of the case, the State proposed a 

jury instruction with a single definition of 

"assault" to support its theory of the charge: 

An assault is an act, with unlawful 
force, done with the intent to create in 
another apprehension and fear of bodily 
injury, and which in fact creates in 
another a reasonable apprehension and 
imminent fear of bodily injury even 
though the actor did not actually intend 
to inflict bodily injury. 

Supp. CP [Subno. 89 at 4].4 

The defense proposed instructions on two 

lesser offenses: assault in the fourth degree and 

4 The State originally proposed this 
instruction without the phrase "with unlawful 
force." Supp. CP [Subno. 84 at 10]. 
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unlawful display of a firearm. 5 The trial court 

noted: 

Well, if the jury determined that the 
firearm was never pointed at Mr . Cocchi; 
it was only displayed. And that 
they saw him as putting his hand on Mr. 
Cocchi's shoulder that that's an assault 
IV and a display of firearm. It's not an 
assault II. 

RP 496. The court gave the defense instructions, 

including two definitions of assault in a single 

instruction. RP 463-87, 523-31. 

INSTRUCTION NO. 11 

An assault is an intentional 
touching of another person, with unlawful 
force that is harmful or offensive 
regardless of whether any physical injury 
is done to the person. A touching is 
offensive if the touching would offend an 
ordinary person who is not unduly 
sensitive. 

An assault is also an act done with 
the intent to create in another 
apprehension and fear of bodily injury, 
and which in fact creates in another a 
reasonable apprehension and imminent fear 
of bodily injury even though the actor 
did not actually intend to inflict bodily 
injury. 

An act is not an assault, if it is 
done with the consent of the person 
alleged to be assaulted. 

CP 21 (emphases added) . 

5 Discussing instructions, defense counsel 
said "I hate instructions." He agreed with the 
court's comment that instructions are "the most 
confusing thing that humans have devised." RP 486. 
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INSTRUCTION NO. 13 

To convict the defendant of the 
crime of assault in the second degree, 
each of the following elements of the 
crime must be proved beyond a reasonable 
doubt: 

(1) That on or about 19th day of 
July, 2011, the defendant assaulted Jache 
Cocchi, with a deadly weapon; and 

(2) That this act occurred in the 
State of Washington. 

If you find from the evidence that 
each of these elements have been proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will 
be your duty to return a verdict of 
guilty. 

On the other hand, if, after 
weighing all the evidence, you have a 
reasonable doubt as to any of these 
elements, then it will be your duty to 
return a verdict of not guilty. 

CP 23 (emphases added) . 

INSTRUCTION NO. 14 

It is a defense to a charge of 
Assault in the Second Degree, Assault in 
the Fourth Degree and Unlawful Display of 
a Weapon that the force offered to be 
used was lawful as defined in this 
instruction. 

The offer to use force upon or 
toward the person of another is lawful 
when offered by a person who reasonably 
believes that he is about to be injured 
in preventing or attempting to prevent an 
offense against the person, and when the 
force is not more than is necessary. 

The person offering to use the force 
may employ such force and means as a 
reasonably prudent person would use under 
the same or similar conditions as they 
appeared to the person, taking into 
consideration all of the facts and 
circumstances known to the person at the 
time of and prior to the incident. 
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The state has the burden of proving 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the force 
offered to be used by the defendant was 
not lawful. If you find that the State 
has not proved the absence of this 
defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it 
will be your duty to return a verdict of 
not guilty [.] 

CP 24 (emphases added). Neither party took 

exception to the court's instructions. RP 533-36. 

c. Closing Argument 

The prosecutor argued Instruction No. 13 was 

the "most important" instruction for the jury. 

" [W] e have to prove what is enumerated as two 

different elements, only two elements." RP 545. 

The prosecutor talked about the definitions of the 

terms in Instruction 13, but said nothing about his 

burden to prove the absence of self -defense or 

lawful use of force. RP 545-52. He never reviewed 

Instruction No. 14 with the jury. RP 569-80. 

Defense counsel argued the state had the burden of 

proving the absence of self-defense. RP 566-67. 

In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued if Mr. Thomas 

wanted Jache to stop, he accomplished it by placing 

him in fear of bodily harm, which was an assault. 

RP 569. 
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d . Motion for New Trial 

The jury found Mr. Thomas guilty as charged of 

second degree assault and the firearm enhancement. 

CP 38-41. 

with new counsel, Mr. Thomas brought a Motion 

for New Trial for ineffective assistance of counsel 

and incorrect jury instructions: Instruction No . 

II, defining assault, did not require the act be 

done "with unlawful force" in the second 

definition; and combining both definitions of 

assault in one instruction permitted the jury to 

convict Mr. Thomas of the felony even if they 

believed he only committed the two misdemeanors. 

CP 50-62. 

Trial counsel testified he failed to review 

the WPIC comments requiring "with unlawful force" 

when he proposed Instruction No. II, and had no 

strategic purpose for omitting the phrase . 

I believed if the jury found Mr . 
Thomas pointed the gun, he would be 
guilty of assault 2. However, if it did 
not believe he pointed the gun, but only 
that he displayed or brandished the gun, 
he was guilty only of unlawful display of 
a weapon. It would be possible for the 
jury also to find assault 4 based on an 
impermissible touching by putting his 
hand on Mr. Cocci's shoulder. 
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CP 47. 6 After the verdict the court invited jurors 

to stay and talk about the case with counsel. 

11. Juror No. 11, Marcus Leonard, 
spoke of how the jury was impressed by 
how easily a person could be charged and 
convicted with felony assault in this 
state. He said the jury had to decide 
how to interpret "with . " I asked him 
what he meant by that. 

12. Mr. Leonard explained that part 
of the jury believed Mr. Thomas 
intentionally created an apprehension of 
harm. Others thought he had touched Mr. 
Cocci on the shoulder, but he touched him 
"with" the firearm in his hand, and so 
the impermissible touching "with" the 
firearm was an "assault with a deadly 
weapon," and required a conviction of 
assault 2°. 

13. I never considered that the 
jury could use what I thought of as the 
misdemeanor definition of assault to 
reach a felony conclusion. I believe it 
is an inaccurate application of the law. 
I believe giving these instructions in 
this form under the specific facts of 
this case was an error, allowing a jury 
to convict of the felony based on finding 
facts that would solely support a 
misdemeanor conviction or convictions. 

CP 48. If counsel had considered this possibility, 

he would have proposed the definitions of assault 

in a different format, separating the misdemeanor 

See, ~, State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 
887 P.2d 396 (1995) (distinguishing between 
pointing the gun and merely displaying it); State 
v. Cardenas-Muratalla, Wn. App. (No. 68057-
9-1, 2/3/2014) (anonymous tip that gun was shown 
without suggestion of pointing or threat does not 
justify a Terry stop) . 
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definition from the felony definition. He had no 

strategic purpose for combining them into a single 

instruction . CP 45-49. The state conceded it was 

error to omit "without lawful force" from the 

definition. RP(5/15) 7. 

The court denied the new trial . The judge 

stated in a case of self -defense, including 

"without lawful force" would be the "best 

practice, " but concluded Instruction No. 14 

resolved the matter . proposing an erroneous 

instruction was not ineffective assistance of 

counsel. The judge also concluded he could not say 

any error affected the verdict "without something 

from the jurors specifically stating that that's 

why they came to this conclusion." Without a 

"clear indication from the jurors we thought this, 

and this is the decision that we came to," he could 

not speculate the instructions misled them. 

RP(5/15) at 11-17. 

The defense moved to reconsider, providing 

affidavits from two jurors . CP 85-91. One juror 

concluded Mr. Thomas committed the crime of assault 

by grabbing Jache by the shoulder and showing a 

firearm in a way to create fear in an individual. 
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He specifically did not believe Mr. Thomas held the 

gun to Jache's head or pulled him off his 

motorcycle. 

I can only speak for myself as to what I 
believed and that was that a firearm was 
displayed and it put Jache in fear. I 
also believe that Jache was at least 
touched on the shoulder or grabbed. The 
facts that Mr. Thomas had a handgun and 
displayed it and put Jache in fear was 
what I based my verdict on, that is how I 
interpreted instruction #11 and why I 
voted guilty. 

CP 86. 

The presiding juror believed similar facts: 

[The verdict] was based on the fact that 
Mr. Thomas showed the kid a loaded 
revolver as he approached and also 
attempted to jerk him off the bike and 
that he touched his shoulder. For me it 
was a combination of all those pieces not 
anyone in particular. 

He added the jury did not conclude one way or the 

other about whether Mr. Thomas pointed the gun at 

Jache. CP 88. 

The court concluded "with unlawful force" is 

"not a necessary element of the offense" and its 

omission could not lead the jury to a wrong 

decision. It would only apply if one used physical 

force to commit the assault. RP ( 8/7 ) 58 - 61 . It 

further concluded that if the defendant intended to 

intimidate and did it with a deadly weapon, that 
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equalled assault in the second degree. It denied a 

new trial, choosing to "leave it to some other 

court." RP (S/7) 62-63. 

e. Sentence 

Mr. Thomas was sentenced to 39 months in 

prison, the bottom of the standard range of 3-9 

months plus the mandatory 36 months for the firearm 

enhancement. The court granted an appeal bond. CP 

63-72; RP(S/lS) at 17-44. 

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court improperly instructed the jury 

on the law of self defense and assault. The jury 

instructions did not make the law manifestly clear 

and relieved the State of its burden to prove two 

essential elements of the charge: unlawful use of 

force, and committing the assault by means of a

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