70438-9



70438-9

No. 70438-9-I

**COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,**

**v.**

**JOSHUA THOMAS, Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**DAVID S. McEACHRAN,**  
**Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney**  
**By KIMBERLY THULIN**  
**Appellate Deputy Prosecutor**  
**Attorney for Respondent**  
**WSBA #21210 / ADMIN. #91075**

**Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office**  
**311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor**  
**Bellingham, WA 98225**  
**(360) 676-6784**

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

- b. *The assault definition instruction also did not relieve the state of its burden of proof or confuse the jury where the jury was fully instructed on self-defense including that the state carried the burden of disproving self-defense in a separate instruction as approved in Acosta.*

Next, Thomas contends the instruction he proposed defining assault did not define assault as an act done ‘with unlawful force’ to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury and therefore the instruction read in conjunction with the ‘to convict’ instruction doesn’t provide a sufficient connection to the self-defense instruction thereby alleviating the state’s burden of proof as to the assault in the second degree charge. Br. of App. at 25.

Thomas requested the instruction he now complains of because he wished to argue his actions constituted a misdemeanor assault and not an assault with a deadly weapon that constitutes a felony. CP 8-37, 467, 534. Pursuant to the doctrine of invited error, even where a constitutional issue is raised, appellate review is precluded when the defendant proposed the instruction below. State v. Bradley, 141 Wash. 2d 731, 736, 10 P.3d 358

(2000). Thomas should not be permitted to complain on appeal that the very instruction he requested was erroneous based on the invited error doctrine. State v. Henderson, 114 Wash. 2d 867, 876, 792 P.2d 514 (1990).

Where instructional error is the result of alleged ineffective assistance of counsel, the invited error doctrine does not preclude review. State v. Kylo, 166 Wash. 2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). However, to order to warrant reversal it is Thomas' burden to demonstrate from the record that his attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced his ability to obtain a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

The prejudice prong requires Thomas to demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different had the error not occurred. Id. If either element of deficient performance or prejudice are not met, the inquiry ends. An ineffective assistance of counsel claim is reviewed on appeal de novo. Kylo, 166 Wash. 2d 856.

Thomas contends, relying on Kylo, 166 Wash. 2d 856, that counsel in this case was deficient in proposing an instruction defining

assault that omitted the phrase “without lawful authority” in the second paragraph of the instruction defining a second means of committing assault as recommended when self-defense is alleged. WPIC 35.50. Contrary to Thomas’ argument, the error in Kyllo, in contrast to the error asserted here, was significant and warranted reversal because Kyllo’s attorney proposed an instruction that *affirmatively misstated* the law regarding the harm the person must apprehend in order to defend oneself. Where the jury should have been instructed that a person is entitled to act in self-defense when he reasonably apprehends that he is about to be injured, the jury was instead instructed based on Kyllo’s proposed instruction, that he was only entitled to act in self-defense if he believed in good faith and on reasonable grounds that he was “in actual danger of great bodily harm.” *Id.* Predicated on this error, the court reversed for ineffective assistance of counsel.

The error alleged in this case is not comparable. Here, counsel omitted the phrase “unlawful force” in the second paragraph. Nobody caught the oversight. More importantly however, the definitional instruction as given did not affirmatively misstate the law as was the case in Kyllo. The instruction could not alleviate the state’s burden of proof because the remaining instructions given, read as a whole, sufficiently explained the that is a complete defense to the charges if the force Thomas

used was lawful explaining both what constituted lawful conduct and that the state had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by Thomas was not lawful. Thomas attorney's conduct was therefore not constitutionally deficient for proposing this instruction, in light of the remaining instructions given.

And even if considered deficient performance, Thomas cannot demonstrate the requisite prejudice to prevail on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Jury instructions are to be read in a common sense manner and are sufficient if they properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wash. 2d 794, 802 P.2d 116, 116 (1990). Instructions are reviewed de novo "within the context of the jury instructions as a whole." State v. Jackman, 156 Wash. 2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 136 (2006). An appellate court will "review the instructions in the same manner as a reasonable juror." State v. Hanna, 123 Wash. 2d 704, 719, 871 P.2d 135 (1994).

The assault definition instruction defined assault accurately but not ideally, in light of Thomas' self-defense claim by omitting the 'without lawful authority' in the second paragraph of the definition. This isolated omission however, could not have affirmatively confused or mislead the jury or deprive Thomas of a fair trial when the essential elements of the crime were otherwise appropriately set forth in the 'to convict' and self-

defense instructions. Particularly, where the self-defense instruction accurately defined and explained the term ‘lawful force’-that it is a defense to the charges if the force Thomas used in assaulting Jache was lawful, that force is lawful when offered by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to be injured in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than necessary and that is the state’s burden to demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt Thomas did not act with lawful force in self-defense. CP 8-37(instruction 14). Instructions satisfy the requirement of a fair trial when, taken as a whole, they properly inform the jury of the applicable law, are not misleading and permit the defendant to argue his theory of the case. State v. Long, 19 Wn.App. 900, 902, 578 P.2d 871 (1978). In light of the instructions given, viewed in their entirety, Thomas cannot demonstrate the requisite prejudice to support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim or warrants reversal.

*c. Thomas’ cannot demonstrate his attorney decision to submit instruction defining two means of committing an intentional assault was sufficiently prejudicial to warrant reversal where the jury was instructed that the state had the burden of proving Thomas intentionally assaulted Jache with a deadly weapon in order to convict him of felony assault.*

Next, Thomas claims the instruction he proposed defining assault relieved the state of the burden of proving the assault was committed “with” a deadly weapon and permitted being convicted of assault in the second degree by merely being in possession, displaying or being armed with a deadly weapon when Thomas touched Jache on the shoulder. Br. of App. at 37.

Again, Thomas’ argument should not be reviewed on appeal because he invited the error by proposing the definitional instruction he now complains contributed to the error. Bradley, 141 Wash. 2d 736. (Review precluded when the defendant proposes the instruction complained of). Where instructional error is the result of alleged ineffective assistance of counsel, the invited error doctrine does not preclude review. Kyllo, 166 Wash. 2d 856.

Even if reviewed as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Thomas cannot demonstrate from this record that his attorney’s performance was constitutionally deficient or that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced his ability to obtain a fair trial where the jury had to find Thomas intentionally assaulted Jache *with* a deadly weapon. Particularly, where it is clear from closing arguments, that the state was relying on the reasonable apprehension of bodily injury predicated on

Thomas pointing the weapon at Jache to prove the offense. Strickland, 466 U.S., 687; McFarland, 127 Wash. 2d, 334-35, CP \_\_\_ (instruction 13).

The legislature has codified four degrees of criminal assault and delineated many alternative means of committing first, second and third degree assault. RCW 9A.36.011-031. As to assault in the second degree, the statute sets forth a single criminal offense but then lists separate subsections of alternative means of committing assault in the second degree. RCW 9A.36.021. The term ‘assault’ is not defined by the criminal code therefore courts use common law to define the term –a term referenced extensively throughout RCW 9A.36.

Three definitions of assault are recognized in Washington: (1) an attempt, with unlawful force to inflict bodily injury; (2) unlawful touching with criminal intent; (3) putting another in apprehension of harm whether or not the actor intends to inflict or is incapable of inflicting that harm. State v. Winings, 126 Wash. App. 75, 107 P.3d 141 (2005). Definitional instructions defining the different ways assault may be committed do not create alternative means of committing an offense such that unanimity or substantial evidence for each definition given is required to support a conviction. State v. Smith, 159 Wash. 2d 778, 154 P.3d 873, 873 (2007), State v. Linehan, 147 Wash. 2d 638, 56 P.3d 542 (2002).

In Smith, the Court held the assault definition given in that case, defining three of the four means by which assault may be committed, did not create additional alternative means or essential elements that the state was be required to prove. *See also*, State v. Laico, 97 Wash. App. 759, 763 n.4, 987 P.2d 638 (1999)(definition of term “great bodily harm” did not create alternative means of committing the crime of assault). As noted in Smith “the common law assault definitions merely elaborate upon and clarify the terms “assault or “assaults” which are used throughout chapter RCW 9A.36.”

The definitional instruction proposed by Thomas provided two common law definitions of assault, battery and/or an act done with intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury. In order to convict Thomas of assault in the second degree assault however, the jury was specifically instructed they had to necessarily find that he committed his intentional assault ‘*with*’ a deadly weapon. See, RP 551 (prosecutor explains it’s the state’s burden to prove Thomas assaulted Jache with a deadly weapon.) Thus, the concern Thomas alleges on appeal, that he could have been convicted for simply displaying a weapon and separately committing an intentional assault of either means was not possible. Assaulting another with a deadly weapon is not the same as simply displaying a weapon under circumstances that warrants alarm for the

safety of others. State v. Karp, 69 Wash. App. 369, 848 P.2d 1304 (1993). Moreover, it was clear to the jury the state was asserting Thomas intentionally assaulted Jache by intentionally creating apprehension in Jache of fear of bodily injury (being shot) by pointing the gun at Jache. RP 546.

Thomas relies on Byrd, 125 Wash. 2d 707 in part, to argue that the jury could not sufficiently distinguish between felony and misdemeanor assault. Byrd is not on point. There, the trial court failed to instruct the jury they had to find Byrd *intended* to cause reasonable apprehension of bodily harm. Without the required mens rea element in the definitional instruction, the jury could find Byrd guilty of second degree assault without the state proving the requisite mens rea under the particular means of assault alleged by the state. Here, the jury instructions had no such comparable error.

Any of the concerns expressed by Thomas are squarely put to rest by the jury's consideration of the separate "to convict" instruction and the verdict form A and the special verdict form. These instructions and conclusions reached by the jury demonstrate the jury did not predicate their assault with a deadly weapon on conduct constituting unlawful display of a weapon. The jury found Thomas assaulted Jache 'with' a

weapon and separately concluded Thomas was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the offense.

Thomas contends nonetheless, that jurors affidavits demonstrate the jury did not understand the applicability of the term “with” in the “to convict” instructions and that Thomas could therefore have been convicted of assault in the second degree if they believed Thomas may have been holding the gun during his confrontation with Jache. Br. of App. at 35. Thus, he argues the instruction he proposed generally defining assault by an intentional touching and by intentionally creating fear of bodily injury relieved the state of its burden of proving assault “with” a deadly weapon and that the court should have further defined “with” for the jury. Id.

Thomas made no such request below and therefore should be precluded from litigating this issue for the first time on appeal. Additionally, contrary to Thomas argument that “with” is ambiguous or a term of art that needs to be further defined has no merit. “With” is a common word, that in context of the sentence used in the “to convict” instruction would be reasonably understood by jurors. Thomas’ argument should be rejected.

Moreover, Juror affidavits that impeach the verdict may only attest to matters which do not inhere in the verdict. While it may be appropriate to consider statements of fact set forth in an affidavit, the court may not

consider a juror's statement of the effect such facts had upon the verdict. State v. Forsyth, 13 Wash. App. 133, 533 P.2d 847 (1975). The affidavits obtained, filed below and relied upon by Thomas speak to the process and considerations the jurors made during deliberations to reach their verdict. These affidavits therefore inhere in the verdict and should be stricken and not be considered in addressing whether the jury could not understand the plain language of the jury instructions given.

Finally, Thomas' argument that the judge in this case misstated the underlying charge prior to trial is without merit where the trial court correctly stated that Thomas was charged with assault in the second degree while armed with a firearm. CP 4-5. Any error in not further elaborating on the charge, pursuant to WPIC 1.01 recommendations, does not constitute reversible error where the jury was otherwise given appropriate instructions further delineating the essential elements of the offense, including the state's burden to disprove that Thomas acted in self-defense when he did the "mad dog" act and scared Jache into thinking he was going to shoot him.

2. **Any error by Thomas in submitting an alleged defective instruction defining assault is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the instruction did not mislead or confuse the jury, the jury was appropriately instructed on the essential elements of the offense, including self-defense and the error could not have contributed to the verdict in the face of the overwhelming evidence presented below.**

Even if this court determined the omission of “without lawful authority” from the second paragraph defining assault in the second degree rises to the level of omitting an element of the offense, reversal notwithstanding this error is not warranted. Erroneous jury instructions on self-defense are not automatically of constitutional magnitude or presumed prejudicial such that a trial is considered fundamentally unfair. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wash. 2d 91, 101-103, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)(*abrogating State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d 896, 913 P.3d 369) Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). Error is harmless when “it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” Id. at 15.(*quoting Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967).

To determine whether the omission of an element is harmless error; the court considers whether the omitted element was supported by uncontroverted evidence. Id. at 19, State v. Hartzell, 156 Wash. App. 918,

237 P.3d 928 (2010)(instruction defining assault adequately informed jury of requisite element of intent omitted from ‘to convict’ instruction.)

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